
CITY OF HANOVER 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING -- ZOOM 

OCTOBER 26, 2020 
OFFICIAL MINUTES 

Call to Order 
Stan Kolasa called the October 26, 2020, Planning Commission Meeting to order at 7:00 pm virtually 
via Zoom.  Members present were Stan Kolasa, Jim Schendel, Dean Kuitunen, Mike Christenson and 
Gretchen Barrett.  Also present City Planner Cindy Nash, City Engineer Nick Preisler, Council 
Liaison Doug Hammerseng and Administrative Assistant Amy Biren.  Guests were present including 
City Administrator Brian Hagen acting as one of the moderators. 

Approval of Agenda 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the agenda, seconded by Kuitunen.  
Motion carried unanimously by roll call vote. 

Approval of Minutes from the September 28, 2020, Regular Meeting 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the September 28, 2020, minutes, seconded by Kuitunen. 
Motion carried unanimously by roll call vote. 

Citizen’s Forum 
None 

Public Hearing 
A Planned Unit Development (PUD) and Preliminary Plat for a Development known as 

River’s Edge of Hanover 

Kolasa closed the Planning Commission meeting and opened the Public Hearing at 7:02 pm. 

Nash reviewed the proposed development for the Board members and audience: 

• There will be 178 single family homes and 73 patio or villa homes.
• The City Council requested that the homes at the 5th Street entrance be single family homes rather

than the patio homes proposed at the time of the concept plan along with a reduction of number of
homes.

• The project would be divided into phases, with the first phase being single family homes along 8th

Street, single family homes at the southern entrance of 5th Street and the patio homes in the
southwest corner of the development.

• Landscaping will include two trees in the front yard of each parcel, and buffer screening along
River Road and the homes to the south of the development.  Barrett asked whether any of the
current trees would be saved.  Nash replied that a tree audit will be completed to determine what
trees will be removed and what will be retained.  She gave an example of scrub trees growing in
the center of the parcel would more than likely be removed in order to install infrastructure and
homes.

• The patio or villa homes are compliant with the R2 zoning, but in a R1 zoning district, a planned
unit development (PUD) is needed.

Nash then reviewed variances that have been requested with the proposed development: 

• The lot size of single family interior lots could be as small as 8,600 square feet.
• The lot size of single family corner lots could be as small as 10,500 square feet
• The minimum width size of single family lots would be 70 feet.
• The front yard setback of single family lots would be 25 feet as well as the corner setback.
• The side yard setback of single family lots would be 8.5 feet.
• Rear yard setback in some single family lots would be 20 feet.



Nash reminded the Board that this is a preliminary plat and that it is very common to have comment memos 
from the planner and engineer that are lengthy.  Preisler also confirmed this saying that most of the 
comments are technical in nature and can be addressed by the developer.  The developer has already sent a 
letter responding to the comments. 

Nash said that staff recommends approval of the PUD and preliminary plat. 

Nash said that the City had received two emails to be read during the public hearing.  Copies of the emails 
are included. 
 John Warner, 11929 9th Street:  Mr. Warner objects to the proposed development and believes that 
the ordinances should be followed, particularly enforcing the lot sizes. 
 Sara Byers, 8th Street resident:  Ms. Byers believes having only two exits/entrances to the 
development is insufficient and dangerous.  She is against the project having phases and believes there 
should be a deadline. 
 
Hammerseng asked if the planner and engineer could speak to the comments made by the residents. 
 
Preisler reminded the Board and audience that a traffic impact study had been completed and when it was 
reviewed by the City’s engineer firm, WSB, they did not find any errors.  The two exits/entrances work at 
a high level of service and little congestion is predicted. 
 
Nash spoke to the phasing comment.  The size of the project phasing is a necessity.  Typically, a large 
volume of lots available is not desired.  Developers want to minimize risks in case of a market slow down.  
She asked for the developer to speak to this as well. 
 
Jason Ver Steg, engineer for the developer, said that six (6) phases are anticipated with a phase equating 
one year, therefore roughly six (6) years based on market conditions. 
 
Josh Pomerleau, JP Brooks and applicant, said that they are anticipating 40 homes per year with each of the 
product types, single family homes and patio/villa homes, in each phase.  They plan to adapt to any market 
changes. 
 
Barrett asked how long Crow Rive Heights is taking to build out.  Nash said that this is not a good 
comparison as it was platted in the early 2000s and then the market crashed in 2008.  It would be difficult 
to make a comparison.  Biren said that Crow River Heights West 3rd addition is almost built out and that 
the 4th addition slowed to Covid 19.  There have been 18 new construction permits pulled at the City for 
2020. 
 
Pomerleau also said that there are multiple builders in Crow River Heights West additions and that can 
affect velocity of build out.  His company is planning on having two model homes available that will assist 
with selling the lots and homes. He then went through the house plans included in the packet and explained 
that they have systemized the plans so that buyers can add custom features.  Single family plans will total 
ten (10) or twelve products from 1300 to 2600 square feet above ground with price points between $300,000 
and $500,000 or higher.  The villas will have five (5) product types ranging from 1350 to 2000 square feet 
on the mail level with basement and loft options.  These will range in the $300,000-$475,000 range. 
 
Hammerseng asked for confirmation that basements will be available.  Pomerleau said that basements 
would be available except for some lots in the southern section where the topography does not allow it due 
to sewer placement. 
 
Hammerseng asked what model homes are planned.  Pomerleau said that the single family home will be a 
two-story home between 3200-3400 square feet and the villa would be between 1700-1800 square feet.  He 
asked that Kevin Clark provide additional information. 
 



Kevin Clark, JP Brooks, explained that there is a color palette and architectural variations that will break 
up the monotony often found in developments.  A matrix has been created for the development so that the 
same style of home or color will not be adjacent to one another.  The large option of plans and variations 
will also help.  A design coordinator has put together the color palette.  All of this will make for a diverse 
neighborhood.  The anti-monotony plan will direct buyers to the properties that suit their style. 
 
Barrett asked if the size of the home requires a larger lot size.  Pomerleau said not necessarily.  He gave an 
example of foundation size in two different style of homes, a two-story and a ranch, and how they would 
fit equally well on the same size lot, but may have variations in the amount of space within the setbacks.  
Pomerleau also said they are working very hard so that styles of homes do not appear to be all garage in the 
front. 
 
Pomerleau also said that by systemizing the house plans, they have been able to make improvements to 
each plan and the market is dictating changes leading to more variety. 
 
Barrett wanted to know if the floor plans would change with the phases.  Pomerleau said that may be 
possible, but the array of plans will meet a variety of buyer needs.  He gave the example of how Covid 19 
has changed what buyers are seeking such as turning what was an extra bedroom into office space or having 
the basement finished as part of the build when in the past, it would have been something completed later 
on. 
 
Pomerleau continued saying that they were trying to provide a basement option for a look-out if sewer 
placement allows it.  They are also trying to keep the buffer or screening along the perimeter of the 
development.  Clark added that they want to decide the trees along the perimeter to keep as they have heard 
the existing neighborhood concerns. 
 
Clark continued that single family homes will also continue north from the 5th Street entrance and showed 
it on the phasing map.  They are also cognizant that with all of the ground being moved about and graded, 
that building pads will need to compress and settle. 
 
Kuitunen asked Nash if the styles of homes are part of the PUD.  Nash replied yes and no.  Typically, it is 
recommended with townhomes and rarely do single family homes have these restrictions.  If the Board 
desires, verbiage can be added to describe the intent.  Kuitunen asked if the architectural guidelines could 
be included as it would not be desirable to go backwards to a lesser product. 
 
Hammerseng said that he had been concerned with the small quantity of house plans provided in the packet, 
but now that it was explained that this was just a sampling and there will be 15 plus plans, he thinks this is 
very desirable. 
 
Kolasa asked for comments from the public.  Preisler reminded the audience how to raise their hand and 
then he would unmute them. 
 
Heather Sandberg, 11578 Riverview Road NE: Ms. Sandberg asked about the cul de sac in the southwest 
corner and that it did not appear suggested changes had been made.  Nash replied that while the Planning 
Commission had recommended that other uses may be suitable for that area, the City Council did not, 
instead asked that changes be made at the 5th Street entrance.  Hammerseng confirmed this stating that the 
Council wanted less homes at the mouth of the entrance and that the villas be changed to single family 
homes.  They did not make any changes to the cul de sac area. 
 
Sandberg asked about the 20 foot rear yard setback.  Nash said that is would only be in certain lots and not 
all of the lots.  Ver Steg confirmed this showing the lots that it would impact.  He also said that homes 
adjacent to the trail would have their rear yard property line at the trail easement and then there would still 
be space between the property line and the actual trail.  Clark confirmed this and that it would vary between 
five (5) and ten (10) feet.  Sandberg replied that it looked like the homes would be on top of one another. 



Ver Steg said that the lots would be 130 feet deep at a minimum and that the decks would fit within the 
building pad of the home.  There will be room.  Clark also said that the setbacks are being treated as a no-
build zone.  Pomerleau added that the average depth of the houses is between the high 40s to 50 feet wide 
and this gives a 50-60 foot backyard.  With more restrictive setbacks, it limits the variety of homes that can 
be built.  He believes that the proposed setbacks won’t be used with high frequency.  Sandberg stated that 
she believes reducing the rear yard setback will make cookie cutter lots.  Nash responded that there are 
already a number of lots in Hanover that have these setbacks and do not appear cookie cutter in nature. 
 
Amy Kuns, 11542 Riverview Road NE:  Ms. Kuns wondered if the cul de sac and the homes at the entrance 
would be addressed.  Nash restated that while the Planning Commission had made suggestions for changes 
in the cul de sac, the City Council did not.  The Council asked for the elimination of one home at the 5th 
Street entrance and then to change the villa homes on that corner to single family homes.  Preisler explained 
that the driveways needed to be as far away as possible from 5th Street and were moved to the eastern part 
of the lots. 
 
Kolasa closed the Public Hearing and re-opened the Planning Commission at 8:10 pm. 
 
Nash said that two motions will be needed, one for the PUD and another for the preliminary plat. 
 
Kuitunen remarked that the corner lot size was reducing from 15,000 square feet to 10,500 square feet.  Ver 
Steg confirmed this and Kuitunen said he is concerned about the site lines with a smaller corner lot.  Ver 
Steg responded that there are only a few of the corner lots that are guided to be this smaller size and will 
not be the majority of the corner lots. 
 
Ver Steg asked if he could make some comments on the PUD.  Kolasa and Nash said yes. 

• Number 5 of the PUD conditions should also include Lots 1-7 of Block 5 for having single family 
homes. 

• Number 8 of the PUD conditions regarding the two trees, it was his understanding that one of the 
trees would be a boulevard tree.  Nash confirmed that was correct.  Hammerseng asked about where 
the location of the tree would be located on the non-sidewalk side of the street.  Ver Steg said the 
tree would be in a similar location to ensure uniformity with the boulevard trees. 

Barrett asked if the street widths remained at 32 feet.  Ver Steg confirmed it. 

Christenson asked if there were adequate access points to the trail.  He was concerned with people cutting 
across yards.  Ver Steg said there may be a possible access point in the southwest corner of the development.  
Christenson also asked if there was access to Pheasant Run Park using Duininck Road.  Ver Steg said no, 
it is planned for stormwater.  Outlot C would provide access to the park. 

Christenson asked how the infiltration pond would work.  Ver Steg said that it is separated from the pond 
by a berm and that the goal is for it to infiltrate the stormwater into the pond.  It may overflow into the pond 
is a larger rain event, but that for the most part, it would be dry and the pond itself would be wet. 

Kuitunen asked the Board members if they wanted to include the architectural guidelines as part of the 
PUD.  They confirmed that they did want it included. 

MOTION by Kuitunen to send the PUD for River’s Edge of Hanover forward to the City Council for 
approval with the change in Condition #5 to include the additional lots as single family and with the addition 
of the architectural guidelines as Condition #11, seconded Barrett. 
Motion carried unanimously by roll call vote. 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Ver Steg had some comments regarding the conditions outlined for the preliminary plat. 

• Condition #1 does not have the correct lots and blocks for the villa homes.  Nash said she will 
correct that. 

• Condition #14 regarding the pond construction.  They did not plan on constructing it entirely during 
the first phase and would like this condition to reflect that.  They are planning on putting in 
temporary stormwater to meet the regulations and will abandon it once the pond is completely 
constructed.  Nash said that the way it is worded will be fine as it gives the City Council the right 
to approve it in different phases. 

Christenson brought up the trail access in the southwest corner.  Hammerseng said Council had also 
discussed this at the meeting and determined it wasn’t needed as there were sidewalks throughout the 
development that would grant access to the trail.  They also thought having a trail along backyards may be 
seen as a negative.  Kuitunen said that access would be preferable to people cutting through yards.  Schendel 
said it would be a good option to have.  Christenson said with wanting to promote pedestrian traffic and the 
demographics of the development, an access would be appreciated.  Barrett agreed.  

MOTION by Kuitunen to forward the Preliminary Plat for River’s Edge of Hanover to the City Council 
for approval with rewording Condition #1 and the addition of pedestrian access in the southwest corner of 
the development, seconded by Christenson. 
Motion carried unanimously by roll call vote. 
 
Pomerleau, Clark and Ver Steg thanked the Board. 
 
Nash reminded the Board and audience that this will be coming before the City Council meeting on 
November 17th. 
 
Reports and Announcement 
 Christenson asked for an update on the 15th Street project.  Preisler said that the road is still closed 
as a turn lane was added and the weather was too cold for striping it.  The trail is still incomplete.  Once it 
warms up, the striping will be done and the road re-opened.  It will close again when the trail is competed.  
The goal is to complete the trail next week with the predicted warmer weather.  There will be some 
shouldering work to do which will be done when restoration takes place. 
 Barrett asked if any of the restaurants were going to have temporary outdoor seating for the winter.  
Hagen responded that the River Inn is working with Metro West to ensure that the tents meet code.  Big 
Bore Barbecue will not be making additions to extend their patio season. 
 Hammerseng asked if there was a possibility to bring the development to the November 2nd meeting 
as he was not going to be able to attend the November 17th meeting.  Hagen said that Nash has prior 
commitments to another city on November 2nd, as well as it is the night prior to the General Election.  He 
said they will discuss it and get back to Hammerseng. 
 
Adjournment 
MOTION by Schendel to adjourn, seconded by Christenson.   
Motion carried unanimously by roll call vote.  
Meeting adjourned at 8:48 pm. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
      
Amy L. Biren 
Administrative Assistant 






	10-26-20 Draft Minutes
	10-26-20 public comment 102620

